



REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS

seeking

QUALITY OF SERVICE DATA COLLECTION & ANALYSIS TOOL SERVICES

for

The Puerto Rico Broadband Program of the Puerto Rico Office of Management and Budget

RFP Issuance Date: December 6, 2023

RFP Deadline: January 11, 2024

RFP Number: PRBP-2023-PRBIF-01-005

smartisland.pr.gov



REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS

The Puerto Rico Broadband Program ("PRPB"), of the Puerto Rico Office of Management and Budget ("OMB"), as defined hereunder in **Section 1.5** and in **Section 1.1** of this Request for Proposals ("RFP"), respectively, issues this RFP to obtain proposals from duly competent firms that can provide PRPB and/or the Government of Puerto Rico ("Commonwealth"; together with OMB, the "Government Parties") the professional services defined in **Section 2.2** of this RFP ("Services"). This RFP seeks responses from respondents capable of providing the Services and completing the related tasks required hereunder, while developing a productive relationship with the Government Parties and other relevant stakeholders.

Respondents under this RFP must be authorized to conduct business in the jurisdiction of Puerto Rico and must have local presence within the jurisdiction of Puerto Rico.

Respondents that do not meet these requirements will not be considered by the Government Parties under this RFP.

This RFP does not commit nor obligate the Government Parties to award a contract nor to pay any costs incurred in the preparation of a response and/or proposal in connection to this RFP. The Government Parties reserves the right to award contracts to more than one qualified firm(s), to accept or reject any or all proposals received as a result of this RFP, to negotiate with any eligible respondent or to modify or cancel this RFP in part or in its entirety. See **Section 6** of this RFP for further disclaimers and reservation of rights by the Government Parties.

The proponent(s) selected under this RFP ("Selected Proponent") will be required to be free of any real or perceived conflict of interest as defined herein and/or under the applicable laws and regulations of the Commonwealth and/or those issued by the United States Federal Government, its agencies, instrumentalities and/or component units ("US Government"), to the extent applicable.

By submitting a proposal each respondent certifies that it fully understands, acknowledges, and accepts all the terms and conditions of this RFP, and any amendments thereto, without any restriction whatsoever.

All respondents must comply with the procurement requirements set forth by the Puerto Rico General Services Administration ("<u>ASG</u>", for its Spanish acronym) pursuant to Act No. 73-2019, as amended, including but not limited to the '*Regulation on the Sole Registry of Bidders for the Government of Puerto Rico*', Regulation No. 9301E, issued on August 26, 2021.

RFP Due Date: January 11, 2024, at 11:59 PM (Eastern Standard Time¹) Please submit one (1) electronic copy through the Smart Island Portal:

smartisland@pr.gov

<u>Please refrain from submitting general marketing materials that do not explicitly respond to</u> the content and questions contained in this RFP.

¹ Taking into consideration Daylight Savings Time.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	INT	RODU	CTION	5
	1.1	The	Puerto Rico Office of Management and Budget	5
	1.2	The	Contracting Executive Order	5
	1.3	Broa	adband Infrastructure Assessment	5
	1.4	PRP	B and the Broadband Strategic Plan	6
2	PUF	RPOSE	OF THIS RFP	8
	2.1	Obje	ectives	8
	2.2	Scop	oe of Work	10
	2.2.	1	Implementation Timeline	10
	2.2.	2	Proposed Solutions Functional Requirements	.11
	2.2.	3	Proposed Solutions System Integration Requirements	12
	2.2.	4	MMP's Requirements & Fixed Measurements	13
	2.2.	5	MMP's Maintenance & Support Specifications	14
	2.3	Key	Deliverables	15
	2.4	Avai	lable Funding for the Scope of Work	15
3	PRC	POSA	AL SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS	16
	3.1	Gen	eral Proposal Requirements	16
	3.2	Prop	oosal Format Requirements	17
	3.3	Proj	oosal Contents and Organization:	17
	3.3.	1	Section A: Cover Letter & Executive Summary	
	3.3.	2	Section B: Background on Firm & Team Qualifications	18
	3.3.	3	Section C: Availability of Resources	19
	3.3.	4	Section D: Work Plan	19
	3.3.	5	Section E: Local Engagement Approach	20
	3.3.	6	Section F: Experience & References.	20
	3.3.	7	Section G. Pricing & Budget Breakdown:	21
	3.3.	8	Section H: Financial Information	22
	3.3.	9	Section I: Unique or Unusual Capabilities of Respondent	22
	3.3.	10	Section J: Other Matters Deemed Relevant by Respondent	23
	3.3.	11	Section K: Compliance Forms.	23
4	RFP	GENI	ERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS	23
	4.1	Prod	curement Process Schedule	23



	4.2	Communications Protocol & Interviews	24		
	4.3	Conflict of Interest	24		
	4.4	Blackout Period:	25		
	4.5	Further Contract Conditions	26		
	4.6	General Federal Funds Requirements	27		
5	PRO	OPOSAL EVALUATION PROCEDURE AND CRITERIA	29		
	5.1	Evaluation Committees & Evaluation Criteria	29		
	5.2	Responsiveness	31		
	5.3	General Selection Criteria	31		
6	DIS	CLOSURES	31		
	6.1	General Disclosures, Rights, Options and Disclaimers	31		
	6.2	Accuracy of RFP and Related Documents	33		
	6.3	Confidential or Proprietary Information	33		
7	Att	achment A – Experience Template	34		
8	Att	Attachment B – Non-Collusion Affidavit			
9 Attachment C – Eligibility Affidavit			37		
10 Attachment D – Certification		38			
11	L Exh	nibit 1 – Data Examples	41		
12	2 Exh	nibit 2 – Compliance Evaluation Committee, Evaluation Criteria	47		
13		nibit 3 – Technical Evaluation Committee, Evaluation Criteria			



1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Puerto Rico Office of Management and Budget

OMB is an instrumentality of the Commonwealth, adjunct to the Governor of Puerto Rico's Office ("Governor"), created pursuant to Act No. 147-1980, as amended ("Organic Act"). OMB was created to advise the Governor and the Commonwealth on budgetary, programmatic, and administrative management matters, as well as fiscal matters related to its ministerial duties, among other things.

Pursuant to the Organic Act, OMB has several powers, such as: those related to the Commonwealth's budget formulation; those related to said budget's administration, execution, and controls; those related to evaluation of the managerial and programmatic analysis; those related to operational, managerial, or administrative audits; along incidental faculties. Furthermore, Article 2(b) of the Organic Act empowers OMB's Executive Director to contract professional, technical, consulting, auditing, and other services deemed necessary for the execution of OMB's ministerial duties.

1.2 The Contracting Executive Order

On April 27, 2021, the Governor issued Executive Order No. OE-2021-029 ("Contracting Executive Order"), which requires the Commonwealth's agencies, instrumentalities, public corporations, and component units, to perform an open, competitive, and public contracting process for contracts with a value above **TWO HUNDRED FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS** (\$250,000), including any amendments thereto, during the same fiscal year. This requirement applies to contracts funded completely or partially funded with federal funds if this requirement is not inconsistent with applicable federal regulations.

Thereafter, on June 7, 2021, OMB issued Circular Letter No. 013-2021, establishing uniform guidelines to comply with the Contracting Executive Order.

1.3 Broadband Infrastructure Assessment

In 2011, the Puerto Rico Broadband Taskforce ("Taskforce"), a public-private partnership of broadband stakeholders, was formed with the primary goal of ascertaining the size and scope of the digital divide in Puerto Rico and identifying strategies to close it. Thereafter, in 2012, the Taskforce completed the Puerto Rico Broadband Strategic Plan ("PR Broadband Strategic Plan"), which addressed both demand and supply-side challenges with three inter-related policy goals: access to networks, adoption of broadband, and utilization of broadband solutions. As a starting point, this strategic plan assessed the size and scope of the digital divide across Puerto Rico by commissioning a mapping initiative to develop an inventory of available broadband infrastructure across Puerto Rico, as well as research to survey and analyze adoption and usage trends across the residential and business sectors in Puerto Rico. Following the assessment, this strategic plan adopted specific recommendations for actionable strategies designed to achieve its goals.



Following the PR Broadband Strategic Plan, the Taskforce created the 2015 Puerto Rico Broadband Strategic Assessment ("Gigabit Island Plan") ² which aimed to continue moving the broadband capacity goals forward and set new goals that would provide Puerto Rico residents, businesses, and public institutions with access to broadband speeds of one (1) gigabit per second. The Gigabit Island Plan was built on a 2014 assessment that evaluated the state of broadband in Puerto Rico, examined strategies to accelerate broadband expansion across Puerto Rico and enabled the establishment of the gigabit network connectivity goals for increased household coverage, network speeds and capacity.

For the avoidance of doubt, the PR Broadband Strategic Plan and the Gigabit Island Plan are mentioned herein for context and historical reference purposes only and should not be used nor considered by respondents as basis for their proposals submitted under this RFP.

1.4 PRPB and the Broadband Strategic Plan

On July 11, 2022, the Governor issued Executive Order No. OE-2022-040 ("Broadband Executive Order"), creating the Puerto Rico Broadband Program ("PRBP"), which includes local funding as well as federal funding. The PRBP was created in response to Puerto Rico's need for resilient, equitably distributed broadband infrastructure and the social support required to access it knowledgeably and safely. PRBP's main purpose is to coordinate, authorize, and execute the disbursement of local and federal funds allocated to Puerto Rico for the construction of broadband infrastructure on the Island.

The Broadband Executive Order also created an Executive Committee tasked with administering the PRBP, authorizing and supervising funds disbursed thereunder, among other things. The Executive Committee is composed of the following five members: [1] the Commonwealth's Chief Executive of Innovation and Information ("CIO"), [2] a representative of the Puerto Rico Telecommunications Bureau ("PRTB"), [3] a representative of OMB, [4] a representative of the Puerto Rico Treasury Department ("PRTD"), and [5] the Governor's Auxiliar Secretary for Innovation, Data and Technology. The Broadband Executive Order authorized the Executive Committee to procure the contracting of the necessary resources for the sound administration and operation of the PRBP through OMB, or any other duly empowered Commonwealth entity.

Furthermore, the Broadband Executive Order created a Technical Advisory Council ("Council") to provide specialized advisory to the Executive Committee in government and public administration matters. The Council is composed of the following seven members: [1] representative for the Puerto Rico Financial Advisory and Fiscal Agency, [2] representative of the Department of Public Safety, [3] representative of OMB, [4] representative from the Puerto Rico Highway and Transportation Authority, [5] Puerto Rico Majors Federation, [6] Puerto Rico Majors Association, and [7] the Puerto Rican Alliance of Telecommunications.

Additionally, the Broadband Executive Order instructed OMB to create a Strategic Plan for the PRBP ("Strategic Plan"), to ensure that these funds are used within the terms established to do so, ensure the prompt construction of the broadband infrastructure necessary to close the digital gap in Puerto Rico, and establish necessary controls to ensure the funds are used pursuant to applicable

https://docs.pr.gov/files/Broadband/Documentos/Puerto%20Rico%20Broadband%20Strategic%20Plan%202012.pdf

² Copy of which can be found through this link:



regulations. On August 12, 2023, the Executive Committee issued the Strategic Plan, titled Five Year Plan of Action³.

PRBP funds braids together local funds as well as federal funds. These funds will be utilized for programs to accelerate growth and support expansion efforts in broadband access and expand the use of online resources by residents of each municipality. The PRBP intends to help overcome barriers to broadband expansion, ensure that all Puerto Rico residents, businesses, and public institutions benefit from this capability, and ensure that critical public institutions (for example, schools, hospitals, libraries, and government) can stay connected. It is also intended to help encourage private sector investment in broadband to build and improve access to higher-speed offerings in underserved areas. Some of the funding sources and initiatives of the PRBP are briefly discussed below.

Puerto Rico Broadband Infrastructure Fund

The Puerto Rico Broadband Infrastructure Fund ("PRBIF") comprises the local funding component of the PRBP. In the Government's Certified Fiscal Plan and Budget for Fiscal Year 2020-2021, \$400 million was allocated for the PRBIF.⁴ The PRBIF is intended to support expansion efforts in unserved and underserved areas through grants that fund a portion of the deployment costs in these communities. These appropriated funds incentivize private sector investments in broadband build-out and improve access to faster speed offerings.

PRBIF programs complement federally funded broadband programs to accelerate growth and support expansion efforts in broadband access. PRBIF funds will be utilized for funding the deployment of free public Wi-Fi infrastructure, resilient power systems and infrastructure hardening for telecommunications sites, as well as other programs.

Broadband Equity, Access, and Deployment Program

On November 15, 2021, the US Government enacted the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act of 2021, Pub. L. 117-58 ("Infrastructure Act"), which authorized funds for roads, bridges, transportation safety programs, passenger and freight rail, electric vehicle chargers, power infrastructure, and broadband development, among other things. Broadband deployment and broadband related programs will be funded out of the Infrastructure Act's Broadband Equity, Access, and Deployment Program ("BEAD").

Funding available under the BEAD Program is geared towards accelerating the expansion and adoption of digital technologies, particularly broadband infrastructure, to bridge the digital divide and enhance connectivity across communities. Established to foster inclusive and equitable access to digital resources, the BEAD Program seeks to support initiatives that facilitate the deployment of broadband networks, especially in underserved or rural areas.

Puerto Rico was allocated \$334,614,510.70 under the BEAD Program for the programs permitted under the Infrastructure Act and BEAD Notice of Funding Opportunity.⁵ The PRBP intends to utilize BEAD funding for the deployment of an underground telecommunications conduit system as well as certain digital equity programs.

³ Copy of which can be found through this link: docs.pr.gov/files/Broadband/Documentos/PRBB%20-%205YR%20Action%20Plan%20-%2008-12-2023.pdf.

⁴ https://www.smartisland.pr.gov/#Fondos

⁵ https://broadbandusa.ntia.doc.gov/sites/default/files/2022-05/BEAD%20N0F0.pdf



Capital Projects Fund

On March, 11 2021 the US government enacted the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, Pub. L. 117-2 ("ARPA") which authorized funds for states, territories and freely associated states to develop programs to aid in economic recovery from the coronavirus pandemic. Broadband deployment and broadband related programs will be funded out of ARPA's Capital Projects Fund ("CPF") program.

The CPF, available under the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, Pub. L. 117-2 ("ARPA"), helps state and territorial governments to finance capital and infrastructure projects, for the expansion of high-speed internet allowing delivering vital services that will ensure all communities have access to a high-quality modern infrastructure needed to access critical services.

Puerto Rico was allocated \$158,310,056 for programs permitted under ARPA and the US Treasury Guidance for the Coronavirus Capital Projects Fund for States, Territories & Freely Associated States.⁶ The PRBP intends to utilize CPF funding for the deployment of a submarine cable network with landing stations as well as the construction of community internet hubs.

FCC Uniendo a Puerto Rico

In 2018, the Federal Communications Commission ("FCC") established the Uniendo a Puerto Rico ("Uniendo") Fund to provide high quality, resilient deployment and restore gains eliminated by devastating Hurricanes Irma and Maria in 2017. Uniendo will provide \$178.3 million for long-term resilient broadband access to all Puerto Rican households.⁷

Following a bidding process, winning providers Liberty and Claro committed to providing at least 100/20 Mbps service to more than 2/3 of their awarded locations and gigabit service to at least 30% of their awarded locations. All locations must be serviced with committed speeds by 2028, with interim deployment milestones met in the preceding three years. Commitments include a minimum monthly usage allowance of 200 GB and a maximum roundtrip broadband and voice latency of 100 milliseconds. While not a funding source directly administered by the PRBP, Uniendo deployments will be monitored by the PRBP and will be a part of the Quality of Service Data Collection & Analysis Tool Services program.

2 PURPOSE OF THIS RFP

2.1 Objectives

The Government Parties recognize the increasing dependence on integrated internet and telecommunication technologies within modern society, and the importance of these technologies for various purposes (such as telehealth, remote learning, remote work, among others). Given that the Government Parties aim to maximize their utilization, while ensuring reliable and consistent services,

⁶ https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Capital-Projects-Fund-Guidance-States-Territories-and-Freely-Associated-States.pdf

⁷ https://www.fcc.gov/bringing-puerto-rico-together-and-connect-usvi-fund-stage-2



it is crucial to measure and monitor the quality of services supplied by internet service providers ("ISP's"; i.e., fixed broadband) and mobile providers ("MP's"; i.e., mobile connectivity). By assessing the performance of these services, the Government Parties aim to measure if such services meet the required needs, enhance transparency, promote fair competition, ensure that ISP's and MP's deliver reliable and consistent services, and empower consumers to make informed choices.

Telecommunications quality of services ("QoS)" can be defined as meeting the established requirements of end-users or contracted services. The level of QoS can serve as a differentiator in the ISP market, indicating the performance and reliability of a service or product. Notably, in a market where prices are similar, quality becomes a distinguishing factor for end-users when selecting a vendor. Standardized QoS metrics should drive ISP's to coordinate improvements if results fall short of expectations.

As a result of the Services that could be provided pursuant to this RFP, the Government Parties intention is to periodically publish surveys on the characteristics of broadband service usage, including fixed and mobile capabilities, based on statistically significant data. This will include information on the types of technology used and actual data transmission speeds subscribed to by consumers. Open datasets, reports, and other data products will be released to the public. By introducing these new performance measurements, the Government Parties aim to ensure that providers accurately advertise the services they are capable of delivering, and aligning their claims with the technology they promote through media channels. Recognizing that new technology can be complex for consumers, this new dataset will provide a certain level of transparency in service offerings.

The objective of this RFP is for the Government Parties to obtain proposals to support and conduct an ongoing study of consumer fixed and mobile performance across the region, evaluating the QoS of fixed broadband and mobile connectivity from the perspective of end-users. By monitoring service offerings and the residential broadband consumer demographic, the Government Parties aims to improve the availability of information for consumers and the public regarding their broadband services. Additionally, the standardized QoS metrics will assist ISPs in identifying areas for improvement, while providing consumers with a basis for selecting reliable and reputable service providers, for the benefit of the People of Puerto Rico. Ultimately, this initiative seeks to promote accountability, transparency, and equitable access to high-quality telecommunications services throughout Puerto Rico (collectively, the "QoS Initiative").

Respondents should be aware that the information and datasets gathered will also be utilized by other Commonwealth agencies, to the extent needed and or determined by the Government Parties, including, but not limited to the PRTB, the Puerto Rico Department of Consumers ("DACO", for its Spanish Acronym), the Puerto Rico Department of Public Safety Department of Transportation and other Public Safety ("NTSP", for its Spanish acronym), and the Puerto Rico Innovation and Technology Service ("PRITS").

Furthermore, the Selected Proponent will be required to collaborate with the Government Parties in continuously reviewing and updating information relevant to the QoS Initiative. This includes adapting to and measuring emerging technologies, monitoring market and technological changes, and capturing and reporting changes in consumer behavior. These efforts aim to ensure that the PRBP achieves its mission of connecting all citizens in accordance with the new FCC standards.

Through this RFP, the Government Parties seek to obtain proposals from qualified service providers capable of providing the Services defined in **Section 2.2** of this RFP, which will be funded with the Available Funding for the Scope of Work, as defined in **Section 2.4** of this RFP.



The Selected Proponent under this RFP shall:

- Work with the Government Parties and any other personnel on all matters that may arise in connection with the terms of this RFP and/or the contract that could be awarded pursuant to this RFP ("Agreement");
- Assume sole responsibility for the complete effort required to provide the Services, as defined in **Section 2.2** of this RFP;
- Refrain from assigning, transferring, conveying, or otherwise disposing of the Agreement, or
 its rights, titles, or interest therein, or its power to execute such Agreement, to any other
 person, firm, partnership, company or corporation without the prior consent and approval in
 writing of the Government Parties; and
- Comply with applicable federal, state, Commonwealth and foreign laws and regulations governing projects initiated or supported by the Commonwealth and/or the US Government.

2.2 Scope of Work

The Government Parties are hereby seeking proposals from duly competent firms that can provide the following professional services in connection with the PRBP (collectively, the "Services", and/or "Scope of Works"):

- Measure and monitor the QoS of the ISP's and the MP's providers in Puerto Rico, by conducting an ongoing study of consumer fixed and mobile performance across the region, evaluating the QoS of fixed broadband and mobile connectivity from the perspective of endusers.
- Support in the development of a collection, measurement, and reporting system for the QoS Initiative ("Reporting System").
- Provide software development solutions for field measurements and data collection for the QoS Initiative ("Software System").
- Collect, compile, store, and report the structured data set for the QoS Initiative, with a proposed system ("Proposed System"; together with the Reporting System and the Software System, the "Proposed Solutions"). The Proposed Solutions must have the Functional Requirements outlined in **Section 2.2.2** of this RFP.
- Perform on-premises validation of functionality and reporting accuracy of the system. Validation may require site visits to the locations being validated.
- The QoS dashboard(s) resulting from the Services must offer robust visualization capabilities and provide users with multiple mapping, analysis, and reporting capabilities.
- Incidental and/or related endeavors under the Scope of Work, as reasonably requested by the Government Parties.

Attached to this RFP as *Exhibit 1*, is non-exhaustive list of examples do data reporting that will be required by the Government Parties pursuant to this RFP and/or the Agreement.

2.2.1 Implementation Timeline



Pursuant to the terms and conditions of this RFP, and upon execution of the Agreement, the anticipated timeline for the Selected Proponent to conduct and complete the Services is as follows ("Implementation Timeline"8):

Analysis, Design, and Definition Phase: 1 week
 Development and Integration Phase: 4 weeks
 Testing and Refinement Phase: 1 week
 Implementation and Delivery Phase: 1 week

Respondents shall provide a project implementation timeline with their submission that addresses the bulleted item above. This timeline will be scored during the Technical Evaluation Committee Review (please refer to Exhibit 3).

2.2.2 Proposed Solutions Functional Requirements

The Proposed Solutions must have the following Functional Requirements:

- Must collect, analyze, and report accurate data on the service provided in different geographical locations throughout Puerto Rico.
- Must store historical data collected from measurements for a period of at least three (3) years and support up to five hundred (500) simultaneous sets of measuring equipment distributed throughout the seventy-eight (78) Municipalities of Puerto Rico.
- Should allow real-time analysis, processing, consolidation, updating, and entrusting of information, with the option to make queries every twenty (20), thirty (30), or sixty (60) minutes.
- Remote configuration of measurement plans, including active FTP, HTTP, Ping, and delay tests, must be possible from the server.
- Have automatic connectivity diagnostics on the measuring equipment and the ability to remotely restart all field measurement equipment from a centralized server.
- Should allow for the creation of custom measurement report formats, preferably with whitelabeling options, which should be generated automatically.
- Must support LTE 4G and 5G (7/1 and 35/3) technologies for mobile measurements and various access network technologies for fixed internet measurements.
- Should be compatible with different vendors in a multi-vendor environment, guaranteeing support for providers such as Nokia, Ericsson, and Samsung.
- Should initially support up to five hundred (500) simultaneous sets of measuring equipment and allow for expansion as requested by the PRBP.

⁸ Implementation Timeline counted from the effective date of the Agreement, pursuant to the laws of the Commonwealth.



- Should allow the PRBP, and/or Commonwealth agencies authorized by the PRBP, daily and automatic data retrieval options, as well as the ability to modify the list of measurement points without requiring additional license.
- Must support scheduled information captures, measurement plans, and work with real traffic on protocols such as HTTP, FTP, streaming, web browsing, and email.
- Should allow for the configuration and grouping of Key Performance Indicators ("KPIs"), remote installation and configuration of software on measuring equipment, and easy installation and uninstallation of equipment.
- Must allow for data consolidation in various graphical views, export of raw information and custom reports in different formats, and database imaging or synchronization with an external database.
- Must display data QoS parameters, including ping, FTP data rate, and HTTP data rate, and provide options to define alarms or alerts based on indicators.
- Respondents must provide detailed information about the software/hardware roadmap of the Proposed Solutions, including capacity, performance, and processing improvements. Additionally, respondents must explain the licensing scheme of the Proposed Solutions, including any hardware and/or software licensing restrictions and limitations.
- The Proposed Solutions must comply with the System Integration Requirements levied in **Section 2.2.3** of this RFP.
- The Selected Proponent must provide all necessary hardware and software for the platform to operate with up to five hundred (500) simultaneous sets of measuring equipment and at least fifteen (15) simultaneous consultation clients.
- The mobile measurement probe ("MMP") must support LTE technologies (in specific frequency bands and allow for forced connection configurations remotely) and comply with the Requirements & Fixed Measurements set forth in **Section 2.2.4**, and with the Maintenance & Support Specifications indicated in **Section 2.2.5** of this RFP.

2.2.3 Proposed Solutions System Integration Requirements

The Proposed Solutions must comply with the following System Integration Requirements:

- Should seamlessly integrate with existing network infrastructure and management systems used by the PRBP and/or relevant Commonwealth agencies.
- Should support standard protocols for data exchange, such as SNMP, REST APIs, or custom APIs, to enable smooth integration with other systems.
- Should be capable of importing and exporting data in various formats, including CSV, XML, JSON, or database synchronization.
- Integration with external databases or data warehouses should be possible to enable data analysis and reporting.
- Should provide a user-friendly interface for system administrators and operators to configure and manage the measurement equipment, monitor data collection, and generate reports.



- Should offer role-based access control to ensure data privacy and restrict access to authorized personnel.
- Should have robust security measures in place to protect data transmission, storage, and access.
- Disaster recovery and backup mechanisms should be implemented to safeguard data in case of system failures or outages.

In addition to the foregoing, respondents should outline the process and timeline for the Proposed Solutions system(s) integration (including any potential challenges or dependencies).

2.2.4 MMP's Requirements & Fixed Measurements

The MMP must have the following Requirements:

- The mobile measuring equipment must withstand operating temperatures up to 120 degrees Fahrenheit and comply with specified technical standards.
- The equipment should be easily installed, lightweight, and suitable for indoor and outdoor environments.
- The measurement equipment must support both alternating current ("AC") and direct current ("DC") connections within specified voltage ranges.
- The equipment must be portable, support LTE technologies in specific frequency bands, and allow for remote configuration and restart from the server.
- The measurement equipment must be capable of sending test results to the storage, management, and reporting system, even in challenging network conditions, with specified storage capacity.

In addition to the foregoing requirements, respondents under this RFP must include in their proposals specifications for weight, dimensions, power supply requirements, interfaces, ports, operating system, and other characteristics of the measuring equipment. Moreover, respondents must provide a manual for the use, operation, and maintenance of the measuring equipment.

Furthermore, the MMP must have the following Fixed Measurements:

- The probe for the fixed network must deliver various indicators and flags related to DNS, web browsing, FTP, gaming, HTTP, Netflix, and other relevant protocols and services. It should support multiple access network technologies, including DSL, cable, fiber, and wireless, to accurately measure the performance of fixed internet connections.
- The fixed measurement probe should be compact, easy to install, and suitable for indoor use.
 - o It must support different connectivity options, including Ethernet, Wi-Fi, and Powerline, to ensure flexibility in connecting to the network.
- The probe should have the capability to perform active tests such as ping, HTTP download/upload, FTP download/upload, DNS resolution, and video streaming.
 - o It should be capable of measuring KPI's such as latency, packet loss, download/upload speeds, and DNS response time.



- The measurement probe should support the latest internet protocols and technologies, including IPv6, to ensure compatibility with modern networks.
- Remote configuration and management of the fixed measurement probes should be possible from a centralized server.
- The probe must have the ability to collect data at regular intervals and transmit it to the storage, management, and reporting system securely.
- The probe should be resilient to network disruptions and able to resume data transmission seamlessly after reconnection.

In addition to the foregoing, respondents under this RFP must provide detailed specifications of the fixed measurement probe, including dimensions, weight, power requirements, interfaces, operating system, and other relevant characteristics. Moreover, respondents must provide a user manual for the installation, operation, and maintenance of the fixed measurement probe.

2.2.5 MMP's Maintenance & Support Specifications

Given that maintenance and support are crucial aspects of deploying and operating the fixed measurement probe, the Government Parties will ponder the following considerations regarding maintenance and support of the measurement probe:

- <u>Support Services</u>: Respondents should provide comprehensive support services for the measurement probe, including technical assistance, troubleshooting, and software updates. This support should be available during regular business hours, and there should be provisions for emergency support outside of regular hours.
- <u>Warranty</u>: Respondents should offer a warranty for the measurement probe, covering any defects in materials or workmanship. The warranty period should be clearly stated, and provisions for repair or replacement of faulty equipment should be outlined.
- **Software Updates**: Respondents should commit to providing regular software updates for the measurement probe. These updates should include bug fixes, performance enhancements, and any new features or functionalities that improve the effectiveness and accuracy of the measurements.
- <u>Training and Documentation</u>: Selected Proponent must offer training sessions for the personnel responsible for operating and maintaining the measurement probe and provide relevant detailed documentation for training purposes (including user manuals, installation guides, and troubleshooting guides) to ensure that users can effectively utilize and maintain the equipment.
- Remote Monitoring and Management: The measurement probe should have built-in capabilities for remote monitoring and management, that would enable respondents (or designated administrators) to access and configure the probe remotely, perform diagnostic tests, and deploy software updates without physically accessing the equipment.
- **Spare Parts and Repair Services**: Respondents should have a sufficient stock of spare parts and provide repair services for the measurement probe, to ensure that any faulty components can be quickly replaced, minimizing downtime, and ensuring continuous operation of the measurement infrastructure.
- **End-of-Life and Upgrades**: Respondents should outline the end-of-life strategy for the measurement probe and provide options for upgrading to newer models or technologies



when necessary. This ensures that the measurement infrastructure remains up to date and compatible with evolving network technologies.

2.3 Key Deliverables

Deliverables shall be considered those tangibles and resulting work products which are to be delivered to the Government Parties, such as draft documents, data, meetings, presentations, and reports (collectively, the "<u>Deliverables</u>"). Deliverables shall include detailed narrative including assumptions and clarifications, and any other information or documentation that was used to reach the conclusions as established in the corresponding Deliverables, which must also establish each resource that participated in their development.

Deliverables shall be in an editable format such as Word, Excel, PowerPoint, Adobe Illustrator, Photoshop, Indesign, or Visio and/or other formats. All Deliverables and resulting work products from this RFP and/or related to the Scope of Work will become the property of the Government Parties. Proponents shall certify the accuracy of its Deliverables to the Government Parties.

Proponents shall outline the types of Deliverables and timelines they produce, in performing the services being procured through this RFP, as assigned by the Government Parties. At a minimum, the key Deliverables to be provided may include such items as:

- Comprehensive reports on actions taken and advice given.
- Work papers and analysis providing information about the process used to develop Deliverables.
- Deficiencies, errors and/or limitations identified, if any, in existing processes and recommendations for improvements, as well as potential efficiencies to be gained (if any) after review.
- Discussion of any potential concerns from pertinent US Government agencies and/or findings, as well as a corrective plan of action (if applicable).
- Analysis and recommendations with regards to applicant's management.
- Quarterly reports on Scope of Work activities.
- Reporting and updating timelines.
- Services work plans, timeframes, and budget tools.
- Proposed system(s) and template(s) used to capture and report information.

The Deliverables will be considered complete only when presented in their entirety to the Government Parties and only for the purpose stated herein.

2.4 Available Funding for the Scope of Work

The PRBIF complements existing federally funded programs to accelerate growth and support expansion efforts in broadband access and expand the use of online resources for the Municipalities residents, and should help overcome barriers to broadband expansion, ensure that all residents,



businesses, and public institutions in Puerto Rico benefit from this capability, and ensure that critical public institutions (e.g., schools, hospitals, libraries) can remain connected.

A portion of the PRBIF will fund the Agreement and/or the full deployment of the Services contemplated under this RFP.

3 PROPOSAL SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS

3.1 General Proposal Requirements

This section provides guidance for the submission requirements of this RFP, subject to the Government Parties disclaimers and reservation of rights indicated in **Section 6** of this RFP. The Government Parties expect proposals submitted under this RFP to provide enough information about the requested information to allow the Government Parties to evaluate, competitively rank and choose a Selected Proponent based on the Evaluation Criteria indicated in **Section 5.1** of this RFP. The Government Parties strongly encourage proponents to review and analyze the date included in the following portals prior to submitting their proposals:

- smartisland.pr.gov
- <u>asg.pr.gov/publicacionesregalamentos</u>

All proposals must meet the requirements stated in this RFP. The proposal shall be submitted no later than **January 11, 2024**, at **11:59 PM**, **Eastern Standard Time**⁹ ("<u>Proposal Due Date</u>"). Proposals may be delivered at any time, provided that the proposal is delivered no later than the Proposal Due Date. The time of delivery shall be the time set forth in the electronic communication received by the Government Parties.

Any proposal that is delivered after the Proposal Due Date shall be considered late, rejected, and could be returned to the respondent, subject to the Government Parties disclaimers and reservation of rights levied in **Section 6** of this RFP. The Government Parties assume no responsibility for deliveries made or attempted outside of the times specified above, late deliveries or the method of delivery chosen by the proponent.

PROPOSALS SHALL BE VALID FOR A PERIOD OF NINENTY (90) DAYS AFTER THE PROPOSALS DUE DATE.

All proposals shall be prepared in English. All prices shall be quoted in United States dollars. The Government Parties shall not accept any proposal or modification of a proposal delivered by telephonic, electronic, or facsimile means, except as provided herein.

⁹ Taking into consideration Daylight Savings Time.



All proposals shall be submitted electronically through the Smart Island portal platform (also specified in the Cover Letter of this RFP): smartilsand.pr.gov. The subject on the electronic submittal shall read as follows:

Re: 'Quality of Service Data Collection and Analysis Tool Services RFP'

3.2 Proposal Format Requirements

Respondents must submit their proposals in digital format in two separate, searchable Adobe Acrobat PDF documents, bookmarked for ease of navigation. The proponent's name must be clearly marked on the name of each file. Ordinarily, individual electronic files may not exceed ten (10) MB, however, respondents could submit electronic files exceeding said threshold though a reliable and protected document sharing platform (e.g., Dropbox, G Suite Google Drive, Microsoft One Drive, Bow Business, Citrix Share File), as long as: submission is completed before the Proposal Due Date, and the Cover Letter – referenced in **Section 3.3.1** of this RFP – clearly and explicitly mentions this.

Proposals must be set up on $8-1/2" \times 11"$ sized pages. Double sided reproductions are encouraged. Although $11" \times 17"$ pages are allowed for schematics, maps, organizational charts, drawings, tables, and schedules. However, narrative text cannot be included on such $11" \times 17"$ pages, except for brief captions necessary to title or describe graphics. Any other narrative text included on an $11" \times 17"$ page may be disregarded by the Government Parties. Each $11" \times 17"$ page will be counted as a single page. Printed lines may be single-spaced. Insofar as is practical or economical, all paper stock used shall be composed of recycled materials.

Proposals shall have all pages numbered consecutively within each section of the proposal, other than required forms which shall be individually numbered, including any 11" x 17" pages and must conform to the page limitations identified in this RFP. Proposals must be presented in Arial (not Arial Narrow), 12-point font, including in diagrams, organizational charts, and other such graphics.

Standard corporate brochures, awards and marketing materials shall not be included in the Proposal, and the Government Parties do not commit to review any materials included in a proposal that are not specifically required by the RFP.

3.3 Proposal Contents and Organization:

Section Description

Section A Cover Letter & Executive Summary



Section B Background on Firm & Team Qualifications

Section C Availability of Resources

Section D Work Plan

Section E Local Engagement Approach

Section F Project Experience & References

Section G Pricing & Budget Breakdown

Section H Financial Information

Section I Unique or Unusual Respondent Capabilities

Section J Other Matters Deemed Relevant by Respondent

Section K Compliance Forms

Proposals submitted under this RFP must contain the following sections, organized pursuant to the requirements set forth in this **Section 3.3**:

3.3.1 Section A: Cover Letter & Executive Summary

A duly authorized official of respondent must execute the transmittal letter. The Executive Summary, not exceeding five (5) pages, shall be written in a nontechnical style and shall contain sufficient information for Government Parties' reviewers (with both technical and non-technical backgrounds) to become familiar with respondent's proposal and its ability to satisfy the financial and technical requirements of the Scope of Work.

3.3.2 Section B: Background on Firm & Team Qualifications

Respondents must demonstrate that they possess all capabilities to successfully execute the Scope of Work and must show effective and substantive experience relative to the Scope of Work. Respondents are expected to display strong leadership, accountability, continuity, and the willingness to work with a broad range of entities, and stakeholders both within the public and private sectors. Hence, respondents must demonstrate it has a staff and/or a team of experienced professionals and a dynamic collaborators network that include a broad range of organizations, relative to the Scope of Work. It is in the spirit of such capabilities that proponents shall discuss its experience under this section.



The Government Parties will not accept proposals from joint ventures, consortiums, syndicates, professional pools, nor entities with similar arrangements, under this RFP. However, subcontracting may be allowed, subject to prior written approval from the Government Parties.

Under this section respondents must: (i) address the legal structure of the firm making the proposal; (ii) identify the organizational structure for the team that it envisions carrying out and managing the Scope of Work; (iii) describe the experience and qualifications of the firm and the key individuals that will be engaged in the proposed project, including experience with endeavors similar to the Scope of Work (comparable size and complexity); (iv) describe the length of time doing business, business experience, public sector experience, and other relevant engagements of the firm; and (v) include the identity of any firms that will provide the Services.

Furthermore, under this section respondents must also provide the names, addresses, and telephone numbers of persons within the firm who may be contacted for further information regarding its submission under this RFP. Respondents must also provide resumes or *curriculum vitae* of the Key Personnel who would be assigned to the Scope of Work (each resume or *curriculum vitae* should not exceed three pages in length and must highlight relevant experience and qualifications with respect to the Services). Key Personnel are defined as those team members who will be assigned and perform the endeavors related to the Scope of Work, or a portion of them. Given the interactions with certain Government Parties, at a minimum, fifty percent (50%) of the Key Personnel must be completely fluent in both English and Spanish; all personnel should be fluent in English.

Respondents must also identify any persons involved with the Government Parties that it knows would be obligated to disqualify themselves from participation in any transaction arising from or in connection to the Scope of Work object of this RFP, considering the applicable Conflict of Interest clauses mentioned hereunder, including, but not limited to, **Section 4.3** of this RFP.

Finally, each of respondents' Principal Member(s) must provide their professional background and qualifications relevant to the Scope of Work. Principal Member(s) are defined as the key figures in respondent's management.

3.3.3 Section C: Availability of Resources

Under this section respondents must detail available personnel resources, emphasizing Key Personnel, and how quickly they can be deployed to render the Services requested under this RFP. Respondents are encouraged to designate and proffer only those individuals they reasonably believe will be available for roles relevant to the Scope of Work. Respondents are advised that Key Personnel changes must be notified and requested in writing to the Government Parties and will be subject to their approval. Key Personnel changes without the Government Parties' prior written approval may result in disqualification or removal of the Selected Proponent.

3.3.4 Section D: Work Plan

Under this Section respondents must provide a detailed Work Plan indicating how they plan to execute the Scope of Work and meet the objectives stated in this RFP. This Work Plan shall include, at a minimum, a detailed list and description of: (i) primary workstreams and work phases, (ii) key



deliverables for each phase, (iii) key activities for each phase, and (iv) projected touch points for collaboration with the relevant Government Parties.

Additionally, under this section respondents must detail how they will accommodate for the Government Parties QoS Initiative philosophy and leverage their own existing infrastructure to meet the specified priorities under this RFP. Respondents may reference past experiences with similar endeavors where similar services were provided, and how they anticipate their approach to the Scope of Work under this RFP could differ.

Furthermore, respondents should provide a measure of confidence in their ability to adhere to the proposed timeline for rendering the Services and/or activity milestones in accordance with their past experiences and anticipated abilities (i.e., resources mobilization/availability, supply chain considerations, etc.). This section is important for the Government Parties to consider while navigating indirect factors that could affect the Scope of Work execution.

As indicated in **Section 3.3.2** of this RFP, although the Government Parties will not accept proposals from joint ventures, consortiums, syndicates, professional pools, nor entities with similar arrangements, under this RFP, subcontracting may be allowed, subject to prior written approval from the Government Parties.

In the event respondents envisions or anticipate obtaining support from subcontractors to execute the Scope of Work, said information must be included under this section following this format:

Key Vendor/Subcontractor	Description of Products/Services Offered	Past Projects Utilizing this Entity
X	Y	Z

3.3.5 Section E: Local Engagement Approach

Given that the Government Parties have the objective of fostering the participation of local parties in providing, or assisting to provide the Services under this RFP, under this section respondents must address their approach to assist the Government Parties to achieve said objective. Additionally, under this section respondents must discuss how they suggest transferring to the applicable Government Parties entities the know-how related to the Scope of Work, including, but not limited to PRITS, during the term of the Agreement. Finally, respondents should describe any needs assessment and/or stakeholder engagement processes undertaken by respondent in prior experience(s) and/or endeavor(s) similar than those required under this RFP.

3.3.6 Section F: Experience & References.

Under this section respondents must provide a brief overview of its experience with engagement similar and/or related to the Scope of Works of this RFP. Respondents should provide enough information for the Government Parties to assess their expertise across the endeavors described in the Scope of Work. Respondents must show effective and substantive experience relative to the Scope of Work.

Additionally, respondents must provide details of three (3) previous engagements providing similar Services than those requested under this RFP. Under this section, respondents must include a



description of the scope and type of the project as well as references (*i.e.*, names and contact information) whom the Government Parties can contact to inquire about their past performance. Enclosed *Attachment A* of this RFP- 'Experience Template' - should be used to capture this information. As necessary, additional pages may be attached to provide the required information.

3.3.7 Section G. Pricing & Budget Breakdown:

Under this section, respondents must provide a full explanation of the pricing structure, as well as sufficient information regarding performance metrics built into this structure. Respondents should also show a breakdown of their fees depending on sections of the Agreement, or the fees for conducting specific tasks related to the Services. Based on respondent's Work Plan, their estimated budget must outline the cost breakdown and fee structure anticipated to fulfill the Scope of Work, as well as any technical, financial, legal, or other additional advisory services that respondent plans to subcontract, pursuant to **Section 3.3.4** of this RFP.

Hereunder, respondents must (a) describe in detail the compensation structure to meet the Scope of Services specified; (b) describe in detail any fees or charges for travel, telephone calls, and any other expenses anticipated to be incurred, which shall be separately billed (NOTE: any compensation for such fees or expenses shall be at-cost, i.e., no margin, or additional fees shall be charged); and (c) describe in detail any discounts or downward adjustments that are available and the conditions for such discounts. The compensation structure can include (i) fixed price or (ii) hourly rates, in which case the respondent must specify the rate increments for each professional who will or is expected to perform services outlined herein, and a not-to-exceed amount.

Respondents shall include a fixed price for a "minimum viable product" that includes all parts of the Scope of Works described in **Section 2.2.2**, **Section 2.2.3**, and **Section 2.2.4** of this RFP, and an hourly rate those parts of the Scope of Works described in **Section 2.2.5** of this RFP.

Respondents must include pricing information for maintenance & support of the platform for at least a (1) one-year term. However, respondents are hereby advised that the Agreement could be for a multiannual term, of up to three (3) consecutive years, with an option to extend for one (1) additional year, at the sole discretion of the Government Parties, and subject to reservation of right and disclosures levied in **Section 6** of this RFP.

Respondents may, at their option, submit one (1) alternative pricing proposal but that proposal must specify any additional amounts proposed and justify in detail the cost breakdown for each individual scope item, or by another divisible increment. The Government Parties reserve the right, at their sole discretion, to reject or accept any alternative pricing proposal.

Respondents are encouraged to base and present their respective budget breakdowns on a perhourly rate, rather than on a flat fee basis. However, said budget breakdowns must take into consideration the tasks related to the Services, as defined in **Section 2.2** of this RFP. In the event an Agreement is awarded, respondents are advised that their budget breakdown and/or proposed pricing structure could be reasonably updated/adjusted following well-grounded market conditions.

It is of utmost importance that respondents consider the Government Parties focus on achieving an efficient cost-benefit ratio for the QoS Initiative and/or the Scope of Work.



Any expenses submitted to the Government Parties for payment or reimbursement under the Agreement must be consistent with the US Government's General Services Administration Federal Travel Regulations ("FTR") and the Defense Travel Management Office ("DTMO") Joint Travel Regulations ("ITR"; together with the FTR and the DTMO, the "Expenditure Payment Regulations"). It shall be the responsibility of the Selected Proponent to ensure that claimed expenses under the Agreement comply with the applicable requirements set forth in the Expenditure Payment Regulations.

3.3.8 Section H: Financial Information

Respondents must provide audited financial statements for the last three (3) fiscal years, showing how it manages its resources and demonstrating that it has the financial capability to carry out the Scope of Work, as determined by the Government Parties. Financial statements must include the following: Opinion Letter (i.e., Auditor's Report), Balance Sheet, Income Statement, Statement of Cash Flows, and the corresponding footnotes. Furthermore, financial statements must be prepared in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("<u>US-GAAP</u>"), or International Financial Reporting Standards ("<u>IFRS</u>"; the latter, only for applicable entities). Under no circumstances the Government Parties will accept audited financial statements prior to the calendar year 2020.

Respondents are advised that any failure to disclose a prior or pending material change(s) in its financial condition may result in disqualification from further participation in the selection process.

In instances where a material change has occurred, or is anticipated, the affected entity shall provide a statement describing each material change in detail, the likelihood that the developments will continue during the period of performance of the Scope of Works, and the projected full extent of the changes likely to be experienced in the periods ahead. Where a material change will have a negative impact, the affected entity shall also provide a discussion of measures that would be undertaken to insulate the potential project(s) object of this RFP from any recent material changes, and those currently in progress or reasonably anticipated in the future. For illustrative and indicative purposes only, the Government Parties consider material changes in financial condition any of the following: (1) an event of default or bankruptcy involving the affected entity; (2) a change in credit rating (if applicable) for the affected entity; (3) inability to meet conditions of loan or debt covenants by the affected entity; (4) the affected entity either: (i) the financial statements indicate that expenses and losses exceed income (i.e. negative net income excluding earnings from non-controlling interests); (ii) incurred a net operating loss (i.e. negative income before taxes, or negative earnings before taxes); or (ii) sustained negative cash flows from operating activities; in at least one of the last three fiscal periods, the affected entity shall provide a discussion of measures that will be undertaken to make the entity profitable in the future and an estimate of when the entity will be profitable. Other events known to the affected entity, or parent organization of the affected entity, represent a material change in financial condition over the past three (3) years or may be pending for the next reporting period.

3.3.9 Section I: Unique or Unusual Capabilities of Respondent



Under this Section respondents should describe any unusual or unique capabilities, experience, tools, or perspectives respondent possesses relative to the Scope of Work. It is possible to expand upon topics covered in previous sections or to introduce new information about respondent or its team members under this section.

Additionally, under this Section respondents could describe how they could provide the Services as soon as possible and could suggest the Government Parties alternate detailed approaches to complete the Scope of Work in a more efficient manner, to the extent applicable and/or possible.

3.3.10 Section J: Other Matters Deemed Relevant by Respondent

Respondents may submit additional information they consider necessary and/or appropriate for the consideration of the Government Parties, relative to the requirements of this RFP.

3.3.11 Section K: Compliance Forms.

Respondents must submit the following forms attached to this RFP as part of their submission:

Attachment A — Experience Template

Attachment B – Non-Collusion Affidavit

Attachment C – Eligibility Affidavit

Attachment D – Certification

The proposal from any respondent that fails to pass the Government Parties' determination regarding no conflict of interest, including, but not limited to, those levied in Section 4.7 of this RFP and its Appendixes, shall be deemed unacceptable and unresponsive, and shall be disqualified without further evaluation.

4 RFP GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS

4.1 Procurement Process Schedule

A summary schedule of the major activities associated with the procurement process is presented below, through the completion of this RFP process. The post-proposal schedule may vary from the schedule indicated below. In such a case, respondents shall be notified to their email of record, subject to the Government Parties disclaimers and reservation of rights indicated in **Section 6** of this RFP.

Date Activity



December 6, 2023 RFP Issuance Date (i.e., Release of Notice)

December 15, 2023 Last date for submission of questions or requests for clarifications to the

RFP.

December 22, 2023 * Responses to questions and/or requests for clarifications timely

received by the Government Parties.

January 11, 2024 Proposals due to the Government Parties.

January 16, 2024 Government Parties to start conduct interviews to respondents.

4.2 Communications Protocol & Interviews

The Government Parties are committed to a fair, open process for interested parties to receive information about the competitive solicitation process. As such, communications shall be conducted in accordance with this RFP.

No interpretation or clarification of the meaning of any part of the RFP will be made orally by the Government Parties to any respondent. All questions and communications concerning this procurement process must be directed in writing to the Government Parties, via the identified form within the specified web page, no later than the date specified in **Section 4.1** of this RFP.

All questions concerning this RFP should be directed *IN WRITING* via electronic form:

faq@smartisland.pr.gov

Re: 'Quality of Service Data Collection and Analysis Tool Services RFP'

Where appropriate, responses to formal questions will be distributed by email to all proponents on our record as having received a copy of this RFP. In each case, the Government Parties will determine whether a response is appropriate or necessary, subject to the Government Parties disclaimers and reservation of rights included in **Section 6** of this RFP.

Oral interviews may be conducted with respondents by the Government Parties, the Evaluation Committees defined in **Section 5.1** of this RFP and/or their duly designated person(s), to aid in the selection of a Selected Proponent, or to clarify or expand upon specific items included in this RFP or responses received hereunder, subject to the Government Parties disclaimers and reservation of rights included in **Section 6** of this RFP.

4.3 Conflict of Interest

^{*} Might be subject to change.



By submitting their respective proposals, respondents acknowledge that in the event they are selected under this RFP, potential services rendered thereunder are to be provided exhibiting complete loyalty towards the Government Parties, including, but not limited to, having no adverse interest to the Government Parties.

Consequently, as part of the contracting process, Selected Proponent shall certify that they are not currently aware of any relationship that would create a conflict of interest with the Government Parties, or those parties in interest, according to the applicable Government's contracting requirements. Furthermore, respondents must ensure that all actions related to their proposal are consistent with the Government Parties and the US Government Guidelines for the Evaluation of Conflicts of Interest and Unfair Advantages in the Procurement of Contracts, and other applicable ethics regulations.

Respondents must provide a list of any other current or prior consulting contracts that the firm has or had with the Government Parties, or which bear any direct or indirect relation to the activities of the Government Parties. In the event of real or apparent conflicts of interest of a respondent, the Government Parties reserve the right, in the Commonwealth's best interest and at its sole discretion, to reject a proposal(s) outright or to impose additional conditions upon respondent. Said respondent shall accept any reasonable conflict mitigation strategy employed by the Government Parties, including but not limited to the use of an independent subcontractor(s) to perform the portion of work that gives rise to the actual or potential conflict.

As part of the submission requirements, respondents must provide a list of any other current or prior consulting contract(s) that the firm has or had with the Government Parties, or which may bear any direct or indirect relation to the activities of the Commonwealth ("Other Government Contracts"). Given the inherent potential conflict of interest that might arise from the nature of the services rendered under Other Government Contracts with the Scope of Work under this RFP, it should be noted that any respondent that has previously performed for the Government Parties similar, related and/or incidental services than those considered under the Scope of Works is precluded from participating in this RFP. Furthermore, and considering that the Government Parties could issue additional request for proposals related to the Scope of Work and/or Services considered hereunder, respondents acknowledge and accept that the Government Parties will not award both contracts to the same firm(s) if bidders choose to participate in both procurement processes. Accordingly, in case a respondent's proposals receive the top score from the Evaluation Committees, as defined in **Section 5.1** of this RFP in both procurement processes, then the Government Parties reserves the right, in their absolute discretion, to select which contract to award to such respondent. These prohibitions shall apply also to all subcontractors, team members, and representatives of all respondents. Any respondent and/or subcontractor who is found to be in non-compliance with the above will be disqualified from this RFP process.

4.4 Blackout Period:

The 'Blackout Period' is a specified period during a competitive procurement process in which any proponent, bidder, or its agent or representative, is prohibited from communicating with any employee or contractor of the Government Parties involved in any step in the procurement process about this procurement. The Blackout Period applies not only to the Government Parties employees, but also to any current contractor of the Government Parties. 'Involvement' in the procurement process includes but may not be limited to project management, design, development,



implementation, procurement management, development of specifications, and evaluation of proposals for a particular procurement. This solicitation designates the contact person ("RFP Coordinator") and all communications to and from potential proponents and/or their representatives during the blackout period must be in accordance with this RFP's defined method of communication with the RFP Coordinator. The Blackout Period begins on the date that the Government Parties first issued a Public Notice of Intent to Issue this RFP. The blackout period will end when a contract is duly executed by both parties.

In the event a prospective proponent may also be a current Government Party contractor, the Government Party employees and the prospective proponent may contact each other with respect to their existing contract and duties only. Under no circumstances the Government Parties employees or current contractors discuss this RFP or corresponding procurement process or status.

Any bidder, proponent, or Government Party contractor who violates the Blackout Period may be excluded from the awarding contract and/or may be liable to the Government Parties in damages and/or subject to any other remedy allowed under law, including but not limited to a ban in participating in any procurements issued by or for the Government Parties, or any entity of the Commonwealth, for a period of ten (10) years, if it is determined that such action results in violation of the Anticorruption Code, Puerto Rico Act No. 2-2018, and other relevant and/or incidental regulations.

4.5 Further Contract Conditions

The contents of the proposal prepared by the Selected Proponent, with any amendment approved by the **Government Parties**, will become part of the Agreement with such proponent as a result of this RFP process.

The Agreement will include those clauses required when contracting services similar to those procured under this **RFP** and those included in contracts with the **Government**, such as contractual provisions requiring:

- Sole Registry of Professional Services Providers Certification ("<u>RUP</u>", for its Spanish acronym), issued by ASG pursuant to the Regulation for Sole Registry of Professional Services Providers, Regulation No. 9302E, issued on August 26, 2021.
- All data generated and systems used during the rendering of the Services, must comply with the
 public policies of data and technology issued by PRITS, pursuant to Act No. 75-2019, and
 applicable regulations.
- Original certifications evidencing that respondent has complied with its responsibility in the
 filing of tax returns and payment of its taxes, including sale and use tax as applicable, to the
 Commonwealth, to the US Government, and to the state or jurisdiction where its base of
 operations resides, to the extent applicable.
- Commercial Registration Certification, issued by the PRTD (i.e., 'Departamento de Hacienda').
- Certification of Compliance issued by the Puerto Rico Child Support Administration ("<u>ASUME</u>"). Corporations must file their request for said certification with the Employer Unit of ASUME. The



same indicates that the employer complies with the orders issued in his name as employer to retain the salary of employees as a result of amounts owed for child support.

- Sworn statement, signed by the President or Chief Executive Office authorized to act on behalf of respondent, indicating that respondent, its subsidiaries, affiliates and/or parent companies, and their respective shareholders, directors, partners, officers, executives, or principals have neither been convicted nor has probable cause for their arrest been found against any of them, nor are they being investigated under any administrative, judicial or legislative procedure, whether within or outside of Puerto Rico, or any other legal provision penalizing crimes against the treasury and the public trust, and that the person signing the statement has not been investigated, arrested, convicted, or found guilty or sentenced as a result of said criminal conduct.
- Certification of Employer Registration and of Debt in Respect of Unemployment Insurance and
 Disability Insurance issued by the Workplace Safety Bureau, Tax Division, Collection Unit of the
 Puerto Rico Department of Labor and Human Resources ("PR-DLHR"). The same shall indicate
 that the contractor does not have a debt with the Disability Insurance and Unemployment
 Insurance Programs. If the person is not an employer, it shall indicate that the person is not
 registered as an Employer and therefore does not have any debt.
- Certification of Employer Registration and of Debt in Respect of Driver's Insurance issued by the
 Persons with Non-Occupational Disabilities and Driver's Insurance Bureau of the PR-DLHR. The
 same shall indicate that the contractor does not have a debt with the Non-Occupational Disability
 Insurance and Driver's Insurance Programs. If the person is not an employer, it shall indicate that
 the person is not registered as an Employer and therefore does not have any debt.
- No debt Certification and copy of current policy issued by the Puerto Rico State Insurance Fund ("CFSE", for its Spanish acronym).
- Certification of Existence or Certification of Authorization to do business in Puerto Rico. The
 Certification of Existence indicates that the applicant is incorporated under the laws of Puerto
 Rico and is issued by the Puerto Rico State Department ("PR-SD"). The Certification of
 authorization to do business in Puerto Rico applies to foreign companies. It indicates that the
 applicant is authorized to do business in Puerto Rico and is issued by the PR-SD. The certification
 indicates the date of issuance and authorization to do business in Puerto Rico.

All certifications must be current, that is, issued within thirty (30) days from the date the Selected Proponent executes the Agreement with the Government Parties. The Selected Proponent will be contractually required to abide by the laws of Puerto Rico as governing laws under the Agreement. The Government Parties shall reserve the right to terminate any contract entered into as a result of this RFP at any time, provided that written notice has been given at least thirty (30) days prior to such proposed termination date.

In addition to the foregoing, the Agreement will specify that any Deliverables and/or Work-Product related to the Services will include clauses directed towards making said Deliverables and/or Work Product shall become property of the corresponding Government Parties, pursuant to applicable regulations.

4.6 General Federal Funds Requirements



Section 2.4 describes PRBIF funds, rather than federal funds, as the funding source for the Agreement and/or the full deployment of the Services contemplated under this RFP. However, the Government Parties anticipate that some or all of the costs incurred under the Agreement could be funded, partially and/or in whole, with federal funds. Consequently, any contract executed in relation to this RFP shall be governed by certain federal terms and conditions for federal grants, including any applicable circulars issued by the US Government Office of Management and Budget ("<u>US-OMB</u>").

Moreover, in the event any federal funding is used in the Agreement, this procurement process is intended to be conducted in accordance with the Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, as codified under 2 C.F.R. Part 200, et seq., issued by the US-OMB pursuant to the authority granted under 31 U.S.C. 503 ("Federal Uniform Administrative Requirements"), which outlines the methods of procurement to be followed by nonfederal entities, among other things.

Furthermore, said potential contract shall be also governed by any specific terms and conditions set forth by the awarding federal agency(ies). Below is a non-exhaustive list of the applicable federal terms and provisions. Respondent shall provide a description of experience in dealing with these and any other applicable provisions and requirements and affirmatively certify that respondent shall comply (collectively, the "Federal Fund Requirements"):

- Regulations and/or guidance issued by the US Government regarding: the Infrastructure Act; the Families First Coronavirus Response Act of 2020 (Pub. L. 116-127); the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act of 2020 (Pub. L. 116-260); relevant disposition of the Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2021 (Pub. L. 116-260); and/or ARPA.
- Department of Commerce's General Terms and Conditions for the BEAD Program, issued on July 2022, as they may be amended from time to time.
- Department of Commerce's Financial Assistance Standard Terms and Conditions R&D Award, and/or Federal-Wide Research Terms and Conditions, as adopted by the Department of Commerce.
- Department of Commerce's Specific Award Conditions for Multi Year Awards.
- Domestic Preference for Procurements, 2 C.F.R. Sec. 200.332.
- Build America Buy America Act, as established by the Infrastructure Act, amended through Pub. L. 117-328, and incidental regulations, including but not limited to 2 C.F.R. Part 184.
- Equal Employment Opportunity requirements, including, but not limited to, those levied in the Equal Pay Act of 1963, the Civil Right Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, the Equal Employment Opportunity Act of 1972, the American with Disabilities Act of 1990, and/or the Civil Rights Act of 1991.
- Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards, 40 U.S.C. 3701, et seq.
- Access to Records, 2 C.F.R. Sec. 200.337.
- Retention Requirements for Records, 2 C.F.R. Sec. 200.334.
- Contracting with Small and Minority Business, Women's Business Enterprises, and Labor Surplus Area Firms, 2 C.F.R. Sec. 200.321.
- Byrd Anti-Lobbying Amendment, 31 U.S.C. Sec. 1352, as amended.
- The Federal Uniform Administrative Requirements.



- Contract Cost Principles and Procedures, 48 C.F.R. Part 31
- Davis Bacon Act, 40 U.S.C. Sec. 3141, et seq., as amended.
- Copeland Anti-Kickback Act, 40 U.S.C. Sec. 3145, as amended.
- Executive Order No. 12549 of 1986, Debarment and Suspension; and Executive Order No. 12689 of 1989, Debarment and Suspension (codified at 2 C.F.R. Part 180, and 2 C.F.R. Part 3000
- Guidance provided at NTIA's Internet for All, Frequently Asked Questions, BEAD Program, as amended from time to time.
- US Treasury's Supplemental Guidance concerning the administration of funding for broadband projects, including, but not limited, to the SLFRF and CPF Supplementary Broadband Guidance issued on May 17, 2023, as they may be amended from time to time.
- FCC's Ownership Disclosure Requirements for Applications, as codified in 47 C.F.R. § 1.2112(a)(1)-(7)
- Rights to Inventions Made by Non-Profit Organizations and Small Business Firms under Government Grants, Contracts, and Cooperative Agreements, 37 C.F.R. Part 401.
- Prohibitions on Certain Telecommunications and Video Surveillance Services or Equipment, as codified under 2 C.E.R. Sec. 200.216.

By submitting their respective proposals, respondents acknowledge, agree, and guarantee the Government Parties strict observance and compliance with the Federal Fund Requirements, to the extent applicable.

5 PROPOSAL EVALUATION PROCEDURE AND CRITERIA

5.1 Evaluation Committees & Evaluation Criteria

All proposals will first be screened for completeness and adherence to the requirements of this RFP. For that initial evaluation state, the Government Parties will appoint a compliance evaluation committee ("Compliance Evaluation Committee"), who will be tasked of evaluating submitted proposals, examining them for completeness and compliance with the General Terms of this RFP, among other factors. The criteria to be considered by the Compliance Evaluation Committee can be found in *Exhibit 2* of this RFP. For a proponent to approve the Compliance Evaluation Committee's assessment, it will have to obtain a score of seventy five percent (75%) or higher. Respondents that fail the Compliance Evaluation Committee's assessment will be disqualified and will not be considered for formal evaluation by the Government Parties.



After proposals have passed through the Compliance Evaluation Committee's screening process, they will be evaluated and ranked by a technical evaluation committee ("Technical Evaluation Committee"; together with the Compliance Evaluation Committee, the "Evaluation Committees") pursuant to the criteria set forth in *Exhibit 3* attached to this RFP. The Technical Evaluation Committee will be composed of the following three (3) members, as designated by the PRBP: (i) one technical reviewer; (ii) one financial reviewer; and (iii) one programmatic reviewer. Each member of the Technical Evaluation Committee shall have experience to perform the review role for which they have been designated, and shall conduct his or her independent evaluation of the proposals received by said panel in accordance with the aforementioned criteria, and the terms and conditions set forth in this RFP. Point assignments for each evaluation criterion will be at the discretion of each member of the Technical Evaluation Committee. Total point assignments from each member of the Technical Evaluation Committee will be added together for a total overall score. This total score for each respondent will determine the order of the proposal's rankings.

In the event of a tie between two proposals, the Technical Evaluation Committee will assess awarded scores to determine whether any adjustments are appropriate. If appropriate, any adjustments made will be approved by the PRBP. If no adjustments are warranted, the Government Parties may use individual scoring criteron within Exhibit 3 as the tiebreaker.

The Government Parties will only consider proposals from firms that are duly registered to conduct business in the jurisdiction of Puerto Rico and have local presence therein. Proposals that are not disqualified will be evaluated as to the substantive material, provided however that, in addition to the rights reserved under **Section 6** of this RFP, the Government Parties reserve the right to waive any defect or technicality in any proposals received, and modify or postpone or terminate the RFP process in its entirety or with respect to any proponent, at any time, for any reason or no reason.

The Government Parties, by means of the Evaluation Committees, may request a proponent to clarify a proposal if ambiguities or uncertainties are presented in the proposal or to obtain more information necessary for the Evaluation Committees to make a comprehensive evaluation. The Evaluation Committees shall report its findings and make its recommendations to the Government Parties. The Government Parties, however, may accept the recommendation of the Evaluation Committees, award the contract to another proponent or proponents, or exercise any of the rights reserved by the Government Parties. The Government Parties' acceptance of a particular proposal does not imply that every element of that proposal has been accepted.

The proponent's suggested Budget Breakdown is only one of the criteria to be considered and the Government Parties are not legally bound to award the lowest priced proposal. The Government Parties may enter into simultaneous or subsequent negotiations with proponents to determine the final selection of the awardee. The Government Parties reserve the right to interview key personnel of the respondent before the award of the Agreement. The Government Parties reserve the right to conduct discussions with each and every respondent and to request that respondents submit a revised experience and technical proposal and/or price proposal. The Government Parties shall award the contract to the proponent that submits the most advantageous proposal found to be technically sufficient and acceptable, subject to the Government Parties disclaimers and reservation of rights levied in **Section 6** of this RFP.



5.2 Responsiveness

The Evaluation Committee shall first review and determine if each proposal completed all requirements as to format and content. Each proposal will be reviewed for: (i) conformance to the RFP instructions regarding organization and format; and (ii) responsiveness to the requirements set forth in this RFP.

Those proposals not responsive to this RFP may be excluded from further consideration. The Government Parties may also exclude from consideration any proponent whose proposal contains a material misrepresentation.

Proposals that fail to pass the Government Parties determination regarding no conflict of interest, including, but not limited to, those levied in **Section 4.3** of this RFP and its Appendixes, shall be deemed unacceptable and unresponsive, and shall be disqualified without further evaluation.

5.3 General Selection Criteria

The Government Parties seeks to procure the professional services of experienced respondents that can provide the Services described in this RFP. The Government Parties' Evaluation Criteria scoring will reflect a preference for proposals that address the core matters indicated in **Section 5.1** of this RFP, subject to the disclaimers and reservation of rights levied in **Section 6** of this RFP.

The Government Parties may opt to interview one or more bidders. Following the review phase, the Government Parties could identify a respondent for negotiation and inform all other respondents through an "Intent to Award" notification, subject to the disclaimers and reservation of rights levied in **Section 6** of this RFP. If an agreement cannot be reached with the chosen respondent, the next-highest-scoring respondent will be contacted, initiating negotiations. This process will continue until successful negotiations are achieved or the Government Parties decide to proceed pursuant to **Section 6** of this RFP.

The Government Parties explicitly retain the right to negotiate with any respondent, leveraging the submitted proposal as a foundation, to obtain the best and final offer. Upon successful negotiations and signing agreements by all parties, the Government Parties could issue a Notice of Award to all participating respondents under this RFP, subject to the disclosures and reservation of rights indicated in **Section 6** of this RFP.

6 DISCLOSURES

6.1 General Disclosures, Rights, Options and Disclaimers

The issuance of this RFP, submission of a response by any firm and/or team, and the acceptance of such response by the Government Parties does not obligate the Government Parties. Respondents shall only be bound by its proposal for the period of ninety (90) days required in this RFP. Legal



obligations will only arise upon the execution of the Agreement between the Government Parties and the Selected Proponent regarding the Scope of Work.

By responding to this RFP, proponents acknowledge and consent to the following conditions relative to the procurement process. The Government Parties are not bound to accept any proposals if proponents do not meet the Government Parties' requirements. Without limitation and in addition to other rights reserved by the Government Parties under this RFP, the Government Parties reserves and holds, at their sole discretion, the following rights, and options:

- To accept or reject any and all submittals, in whole or in part.
- To discuss, with any or all respondents, different or additional terms to those included in this RFP or received in any response.
- To cancel this RFP in whole or in part, at any time, with or without substitution of another RFP if such cancellation is determined to be in the best interest of the Government Parties.
- To supplement, amend, or otherwise modify this RFP prior to the date of submission of the proposals.
- To receive written questions concerning this RFP from respondents and to provide such questions, and Government Parties responses, to all respondents that received a copy of this RFP.
- To require additional information from one or more respondents to supplement or clarify the proposals submitted.
- To conduct further investigations with respect to the qualifications and experience of each respondent.
- To visit and contact respondent's client(s) in any of the projects or engagements referenced in their proposals to obtain direct information regarding respondent's performance in said engagements.
- To waive any defect or technicality in any proposals received.
- To eliminate any respondent(s) that submit a nonconforming, non-responsive, incomplete, inadequate, or conditional proposal.
- To investigate the technical and financial qualifications of respondents using sources in addition to what was included in the proposals.
- To work with respondents to remediate their proposals during the review and evaluation process, which may affect the proposed scope of work and associated costs.

All costs and expenses incurred by respondents in the preparation and delivery of a proposal will be the sole responsibility of the respondents. The Government Parties will not be liable for any amounts to any respondent in any manner, under any circumstances, including without limitation, as a result of a cancelation of the RFP process. The proponents cannot make any claims whatsoever for reimbursement from the Government Parties for the costs and expenses associated with the process.

Respondents should submit their best proposals initially, since negotiations may not take place.

The laws of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico shall govern this RFP process. Any disputes relating to this RFP must be resolved accordingly. Exclusive venue for a judicial challenge is the Appeals Court of Puerto Rico as provided for by the laws of the Commonwealth.



6.2 Accuracy of RFP and Related Documents

The Government Parties assume no responsibility for the completeness, or the accuracy of specified technical and background information presented in this RFP, or otherwise distributed or made available during this RFP process. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Government Parties will not be bound by or be responsible for any explanation or interpretation of the RFP documents other than those given by it in writing. In no event may a proponent under this RFP rely on any oral statement by the Government Parties' agents, advisors, or consultants.

6.3 Confidential or Proprietary Information

One copy of each proposal will be retained for the Government Parties' files and will not be returned. If a respondent considers that its proposal contains material that is confidential and/or proprietary, said respondent must clearly note or mark each section of material as confidential and/or proprietary. The Government Parties will determine whether such material meets the requirements for an exemption from disclosure. If so, that information will not be disclosed pursuant to a request for public documents. If the Government Parties does not consider such material to meet the requirements for exemption from disclosure, the material will be made available to the public, regardless of the notation or markings. It is the responsibility of proponents to be thoroughly informed and familiar with the requirements of disclosure of public documents.

Furthermore, by responding to this RFP, respondents acknowledge and agree that the Government Parties will not be responsible or liable in any way for any losses that the respondent may suffer from the disclosure of information or materials to third parties. It is the responsibility of the respondent, as the real party in interest, to object to any disclosure and defend any action that may be necessary to protect its confidential information.

[THIS SPACE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
[APPENDIXES PAGES FOLLOW]

7 Attachment A – Experience Template

This template is referenced in **Section 3.3.6** of this RFP.

Provide information on similar projects or engagements carried out by your firm related to the Scope of Works of this RFP. If you believe additional information on projects is desirable, please attach further information.

Representative Project 1:

Project Name:	•	
Project Address:		
Public Entity Name:		
D 11: D A11		
	Dublic Fuetter For	
Public Entity Phone:	•	
Public Entity Email:		
Describe key lessons learned:		
Represe	ntative Project 2:	
Project Name:		
Project Address:		
Public Entity Name:		
Public Entity Address:		
Public Entity Phone:	Public Entity Fax:	
Public Entity Email:		
Describe key lessons learned:		

Repr	resentative Project 3:	
Project Name:		
Public Entity Name:		
Public Entity Address:		
Public Entity Phone:	Public Entity Fax:	
Public Entity Email:		
Describe key lessons learned:		

8 Attachment B - Non-Collusion Affidavit

NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT

I, myself and consequence	for my organizationes and penalties or perjury, that to the be	ident of, under , under est of my knowledge	, certify for c oath and subject to the e and belief:
	The fees presented in this proposal onsultation, communication, or agreed or the purpose of restricting competitio	nent with any oth	=
	No attempt has been made or will be me to induce any other person or organizate therwise take any action in restraint of f	tion to submit or no	t to submit a proposal for the
			t Contact Signature
			t Contact Name and Title
AFFIDAVIT N	NO.:		
Sworn and s forth above,	ubscribed before me by, Personally known to me, in, P	, of the uerto Rico, on this _	e personal circumstances set day of, 202
Nota	ry Public		

Note: Providing false information may result in immediate disqualification of proponent criminal prosecution or administrative sanctions.

9 Attachment C - Eligibility Affidavit

ELIGIBILITY AFFIDAVIT

I, (respondent contact), of legal age, civil status:, profession: and a resident of (City, State), in my capacity as
(officer) of (the "Respondent"), do hereby certify under penalty of
perjury, that, except as noted below, the Respondent and Respondent's owners, shareholders,
partners, directors, officers, principals and managers ("Respondent's Related Parties"):
 a. are not currently under suspension, debarment, voluntary exclusion or determination of ineligibility by any state or federal court of agency; b. have not been suspended, debarred, voluntarily excluded or determined ineligible by any state or federal court or agency within the past three (3) years;
c. do not have a proposed debarment pending;
d. will not use any subcontractors who are so debarred;
e. have not been convicted or plead guilty in federal or state court, for the commission of misappropriation; extortion; construction fraud; fraud in the delivery of goods; undue intervention in public procurement processes; bribery; offer to bribe; undue influence; crimes against public funds; or preparation, presentation, possession or transfer of forged documents. The prohibition set forth herein shall also apply to convictions for other crimes equivalent to those of the above stated crimes;
f. are not under investigation in federal, state, foreign or local jurisdictions, at any legislative, judicial or administrative level for the alleged commission of the abovementioned crimes; and
g. I am a duly authorized representative of the Respondent and the Respondent Related Parties, with knowledge and authority to execute this sworn statement.
Exceptions to the above are set forth in an attachment to this Attachment C , providing the name of the initiating agency, number of the complaint, names of all parties and dates of action.
Respondent Contact Signature
Respondent Contact Name and Title
AFFIDAVIT NO.:
Sworn and subscribed before me by, of the personal circumstances set forth above, personally known to me, in, Puerto Rico, on this day of, 202
Notary Public

Note: Providing false information may result in immediate disqualification of Proponent criminal prosecution or administrative sanctions.

10 Attachment D - Certification

CERTIFICATION

Name	e or Respo	ondent:				
Name	of Firm ((if a member of a team):				
				on includes parent company(ies), subsidiaries, organizations under rs, and other financially liable parties for that entity.		
(1)	Has the firm or any affiliate or any current officer thereof, been indicted or convicted of bid (i.e., fraud, bribery, collusion, conspiracy, antitrust, etc.) or other contract related crimes or violations or any other felony or serious misdemeanor within the past five years?					
		Yes		No		
	If yes,	please explain:				
(2)	Has the firm or any affiliate ever sought protection under any provision of any bankruptcy act?					
		Yes		No		
	If yes,	please explain:				
(3)	Has the firm or any affiliate ever been disqualified, removed, debarred or suspended from performing work for the federal government, any state or local government, or any foreign governmental entity?					
		Yes		No		
	If yes,	please explain:				
(4)	Has the firm or any affiliate ever been found liable in a civil suit or found guilty in a criminal action for making any false claim or other material misrepresentation to a public entity?					
		Yes		No		
If yes		ch such inquiry, state the na agency based the inquiry, ar		ne public agency, the date of the inquiry, the grounds on which the exult of the inquiry.		
(5)	Within the last five years, has any grant administration services or related services provided or managed by the firm or any affiliate involved repeated or multiple failures to comply with [xxx] rules, regulations, or requirements during the term of service?					
		Yes		No		
				nd the project(s), provide an explanation of the circumstances, and g e-mail and current telephone number.		

(6)	Within the last ten years, has the firm or any affiliate been found, adjudicated or determined by any federal state court or agency (including, but not limited to, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the Offi of Federal Contract Compliance Programs and any applicable governmental agency of Puerto Rico) to ha violated any laws or Executive Orders relating to employment discrimination or affirmative action, including the not limited to Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended (42 U.S.C. Sections 2000 et seq.); the Equal Pay Act (29 U.S.C. Section 206(d)); and any applicable or similar law of Puerto Rico?			
		Yes		No
	If yes, p	lease explain:		
(7)	state adr equivaler the Unite welfare, p	ministrative agency, includir nt), federal court or federal a d States or any state goverr	ng, but ingency, ing previous	iffiliate been found, adjudicated, or determined by any state court, not limited to, the Department of Labor of Puerto Rico (or its to have violated or failed to comply with any law or regulation of vailing wages (including but not limited to payment for health and stence, apprenticeship or other training, or other fringe benefits)
		Yes		No
law, arbi	tration pro	. ,	solution	e been determined, pursuant to a final determination in a court of proceeding, to be liable for a material breach of contract during n program?
		Yes		No
If yes,				etermined liable and the project name, provide an explanation of tinformation, including email address and telephone number.
(9) Has	the firm or program?	-	d for cau	use during the last five years with respect to a grant administration
		Yes		No
of the cir the firm proceed	cumstanc or any at ing occurr	es and provide owner conta filiate been involved in any	ct inform arbitrat	rminated for cause and the program name, provide an explanation nation, including email address and telephone number. (10) Has tion, litigation, dispute review board or other dispute resolution ag an amount in excess of \$500,000 related to performance on a
		Yes		No
If yes,	board or		oceeding	e resolution) of each qualifying arbitration, litigation, dispute review g. For each instance, identify the counter parties' representative number.
(11) Wi	form, is a that could Question	any proceeding, claim, matte d result in the firm or affilia s 1-11 above and/or subjec	er, suit, i te being at to del	f not previously answered or included in a prior response on this ndictment, etc. currently pending against the firm or any affiliate g found liable, guilty or in violation of the matters referenced in parment, suspension, removal or disqualification by the federal or any foreign governmental entity?
		Yes		No

Under penalty of perjury, I certify that the foregoing	g is true and correct, and that I am the firm's Official Representative:
Ву:	
Print Name:	
Title:	-
Date:	

above.

If yes, please explain and provide the information requested as to such similar items set forth in Questions 111

11 Exhibit 1 - Data Examples

As indicated in Section 2.2 of this RFP, below is a non-exhaustive list of examples of data reporting that will be required by the Government Parties pursuant to this RFP and/or the Agreement:

Fixed Network Measurements:

- The probe for the fixed network should measure the DNS Network Availability indicator (%).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the result of the % of tests completed.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Web Average Initial Connection Time (ms) flag.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Web Average Network request time (ms) flag.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Web Average Queuing Time (ms) indicator.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Web Average Size of the download (bytes) flag.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Web indicator Average Time to first byte (ms).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Web flag Downloaded bits.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Web First Image Resolution (ms) flag.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Web Loading time (ms) indicator.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the DNS flag DNS Delay (ms).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Facebook Download indicator Wall Load Time (ms).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Facebook indicator Download Time to connect (ms).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Facebook Download indicator Average Media Load Time (ms).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the FTP DL Average Speed (Mbps) indicator.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the FTP flag DL Completed Tests (%).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the FTP DL Downloading Time (ms) flag.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the FTP UL Average Speed (Mbps) indicator.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the FTP flag UL Completed Tests (%).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the FTP UL Uploading Time (ms) indicator.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Gaming indicator Average Latency (ms).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Gaming Connection Quality (%) indicator.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Gaming Max. Latency (ms) indicator.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Gaming indicator Min. Latency (ms).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Gaming Packet Loss (%).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the HTTP DL Time Window Average Speed (Mbps) flag.

- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the HTTP flag DL Time Window Contract Speed Compliance (%).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the HTTP DL Average Speed (Mbps) flag.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the HTTP DL Contract Speed Compliance (%) flag.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the HTTP flag UL Time Window Contract Speed Compliance (%).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the HTTP UL Average Speed (Mbps) flag.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the HTTP UL Contract Speed Compliance (%).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Netflix indicator Average Audio Bitrate (kbps).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Netflix indicator Average Video Bitrate (kbps).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Netflix indicator Buffering Time (ms).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Netflix indicator Number of Stalls.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Cloud Speed test Average DL Speed (Mbps) indicator.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Cloud Speed test Average UL Speed (Mbps) indicator.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Ping indicator Average Latency (ms).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Ping flag DNS Delay (ms).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Ping Jitter indicator (ms).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Ping Max. Latency (ms) indicator.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Ping Packet Loss (%) indicator.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Traceroute indicator Latency by hop (ms).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the Traceroute indicator Number of hops.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the X (formerly known as Twitter) indicator Download Timeline load time (ms).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the X (formerly known as Twitter) indicator Download Time to open X (formerly known as Twitter) App (ms).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the X (formerly known as Twitter) Download indicator First view load time (ms).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the X (formerly known as Twitter) indicator Download Total Time (ms).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the VoIP indicator Call Setup Time (ms).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the VoIP indicator CCSR.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the VoIP indicator CSSR.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the YouTube indicator Average Speed (kBps).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the YouTube indicator Average video resolution.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the YouTube indicator Buffering Time (ms).

- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the YouTube indicator Max Stall Duration (ms).
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the YouTube indicator Number of Stalls.
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the YouTube indicator Startup Time (ms.)
- The probe for the fixed network must deliver the % Registered network time indicator.

Mobile Network Measurements:

- The probe for the mobile network should measure the DNS Network Availability indicator (%).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the result of % of tests completed.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Web Average Initial Connection Time (ms) flag.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Web Average Network request time (ms) flag.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Web Average Queuing Time (ms) indicator.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Web Average Size of the download (bytes) flag.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Web indicator Average Time to first byte (ms).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Web Downloaded bits (bits) flag.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Web First Image Resolution (ms) flag.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Web Loading time (ms) indicator.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the DNS Delay (ms) flag.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Facebook Download indicator Wall Load Time (ms).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Facebook Download indicator Time to connect (ms).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Facebook Download indicator Average Media Load Time (ms).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the FTP DL Average Speed (Mbps) indicator.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the FTP flag DL Completed Tests (%).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the FTP DL Downloading Time (ms) flag.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the FTP indicator UL Average Speed (Mbps).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the FTP flag UL Completed Tests (%).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the FTP UL Uploading Time (ms) flag.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Gaming Average Latency (ms) indicator.

- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Gaming Connection Quality indicator (%).
- The probe for the mobile network should deliver the Gaming indicator Jitter (ms).
- The probe for the mobile network should deliver the Gaming Max. Latency (ms) indicator.
- The probe for the mobile network should deliver the Gaming indicator Min. Latency (ms).
- The probe for the mobile network should deliver the Gaming Packet Loss (%).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the HTTP DL Time Window Average Speed (Mbps) flag.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the HTTP flag DL Time Window Contract Speed Compliance (%).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the HTTP DL Average Speed (Mbps) flag.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the HTTP DL Contract Speed Compliance (%) flag.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the HTTP flag UL Time Window Contract Speed Compliance (%).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the HTTP UL Average Speed (Mbps) flag.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the HTTP UL Contract Speed Compliance (%).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Netflix indicator Average Audio Bitrate (kbps).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Netflix indicator Average Video Bitrate (kbps).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Netflix indicator Buffering Time (ms).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Netflix indicator Number of Stalls. The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Netflix indicator Player Loading Time (ms).
 - The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Cloud Speedtest indicator Average DL Speed (Mbps).
 - The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Cloud Speed test Average UL Speed (Mbps) indicator.
 - The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Ping indicator Average Latency (ms).
 - The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Ping flag DNS Delay (ms).
 - The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Ping Jitter indicator (ms).
 - The probe for the mobile network should deliver the Ping Max. Latency (ms) indicator.
 - The probe for the mobile network should deliver the Ping Packet Loss (%).
 - The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Traceroute indicator Latency by hop (ms).
 - The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Traceroute indicator Number of hops.
 - The probe for the mobile network must deliver the X (formerly known as Twitter) indicator Download Timeline load time (ms).
 - The probe for the mobile network must deliver the X (formerly known as Twitter) indicator Download Time to open X (formerly known as Twitter) App (ms).
 - The probe for the mobile network must deliver the X (formerly known as Twitter) indicator Download First view load time (ms).

- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the X (formerly known as Twitter) indicator Download Total Time (ms).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the YouTube indicator Average Speed (kBps).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the YouTube indicator Average video resolution.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the YouTube indicator Buffering Time (ms).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the YouTube indicator Max Stall Duration (ms).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the YouTube indicator Number of Stalls.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the YouTube indicator Startup Time (ms).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the % Registered network time indicator.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the SMS indicator % Completed tests (%).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the SMS indicator Sending time (ms).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the SMS indicator Delivering time (ms).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the SMS indicator % Sent messages (%).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the SMS indicator % Delivered messages (%).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Voice CCSR indicator.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Voice CSSR indicator.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Voice DCR indicator.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Voice call set-up time indicator.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Voice indicator Technology Handover Success Rate.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Voice indicator CSFB Down time (ms).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the Voice indicator CSFB Up time (ms).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the VoIP indicator CCSR.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the VoIP indicator CSSR.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the VoIP indicator DCR.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the VoIP indicator Call Setup Time (ms).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the indicator WhatsApp Image Post %.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the indicator WhatsApp Image Post Check time (s).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the indicator WhatsApp Image Post Double-check time(s).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the indicator WhatsApp Text Post % Completed tests (%).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the indicator WhatsApp Text Post Check time (s).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the indicator WhatsApp Text Post Double-check time(s).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the indicator WhatsApp Video Post % Completed tests (%).

- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the indicator WhatsApp Video Post Check time (s).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the indicator WhatsApp Video Post Double-check time (s).
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the RSRQ dB indicator.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the indicator Rx_Lev.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the SINR dB indicator.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the RSSI dBm indicator.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the RSCP dBm indicator.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the RSRP dBm indicator.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the indicator % Registered network time.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the indicator % Registered network time
 Data.
- The probe for the mobile network must deliver the indicator % Registered network time Voice.

[THIS SPACE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

12 Exhibit 2 - Compliance Evaluation Committee, Evaluation Criteria

Pursuant to **Section 5.1** of this RFP, the Compliance Evaluation Committee will consider the following criterion in its assessment of the proposals received under this RFP:

	r				
	I. General Format & Submission Requirements:				
1.1	Proposal received before the Proposal Due Date	(15 Points)			
1.2	Proposal compliance with the Format Requirements (Sec. 3.2)	(5 Points)			
1.3	Proposal responsiveness to the RFP General Requirements (Sec. 5.2)	(5 Points)			
		TOTAL: 25 Points			
	II. Proposal Contents and Organization:				
Did t	the proposal include the following requirements (Sec. 3.3):				
2.1	Cover Letter & Executive Summary (Sec. 3.3.1)	(5 Points)			
2.2	Firm Background & Team Qualifications (Sec. 3.3.2)	(10 Points)			
2.3	Availability of Resources (Sec. 3.3.3)	(10 Points)			
2.4	Work Plan (Sec. 3.3.4)	(10 Points)			
2.5	Local Engagement Approach (Sec. 3.3.5)	(5 Points)			
2.6	Scope of Work/Services Experience & References (Sec. 3.3.6)	(10 Points)			
2.7	Pricing & Budget Breakdown (Sec. 3.3.7)	(10 Points)			
2.8	Financial Information (Sec. 3.3.8)	(5 Points)			
		TOTAL: 65 Points			
	III. Compliance Forms:				
Did the proposal include the following Compliance Forms (Sec. 3.3):					
4.1	Attachment A – Experience Template	(2 Points)			
4.2	Attachment B – Non-Collusion Affidavit	(2 Points)			
4.3	Attachment C – Eligibility Affidavit	(3 Points)			
4.4	Attachment D – Certification	(3 Points)			
		TOTAL: 10 Points			

TOTAL EVALUATION SCORING: 100 Points

13 Exhibit 3 - Technical Evaluation Committee, Evaluation Criteria

Pursuant to **Section 5.1** of this RFP, the Technical Evaluation Committee will consider the following criterion in its assessment of the proposals received under this RFP:

I. Technical Review: Work Plan, Structure, Key Personnel & References			
Work Plan	(5 Points)		
Existing Tools	(15 Points)		
References	(2 Points)		
	TOTAL: 22 Points		
II. Technical & Programmatic Review: Experience & Qualifica	ations		
Experience	(15 Points)		
Qualifications	(15 Points)		
Implementation Timeline	(15 Points)		
	TOTAL: 45 Points		
III. Financial Review: Financial Condition & Budget Breakd	own		
Proposed Pricing & Budget Breakdown	(15 Points)		
Financial Statements	(5 Points)		
	TOTAL: 20 Points		
IV. Programmatic Review: Inclusion of SMWOB & Local Par	ties		
Inclusion of Small, Minority, and Women Owned Business	(5 Points)		
Engagement of Local Parties/Knowledge Transfer	(5 Points)		
	TOTAL: 10 Points		
V. Other Considerations			
Other considerations:	(3 Points)		
	TOTAL: 3 Points		

TOTAL EVALUATION SCORING: 100 Points